RECEIVED
Aug 14 2023
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001441

The State,Respondent,

v.

Deshawn Chazz Hurley,.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

*Attorney for Appellant Deshawn Chazz
Hurley*

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to require the State to produce a copy of the Greenwood Police Department “Gang Book,” that was disclosed for the first time during pre-trial motions, when the “Gang Book” was material to both guilt-or-innocence and sentencing.

Question II

The trial court erred by failing to suppress evidence disclosed by the State for the first time in the eleven days leading up to this date-certain jury trial (scheduled on April 14, 2022) and after the jury trial started, when the discovery disclosed the State’s theory of the case for the first time and was necessary in order to prepare a defense.

Question III

The trial court erred by failing to suppress GSR evidence when the State’s own GSR expert testified during an in camera hearing that her testimony would not assist the jurors and could be misinterpreted by the prosecution. Furthermore, this Court erred by refusing to strike the GSR expert’s testimony after her trial testimony was the same as her in camera testimony.

Question IV

The trial court erred by failing to grant a mistrial when the Solicitor, disregarding the trial judge’s limiting instructions, asked Investigator Matt Blackwell whether he had seen a post on Xayvion Hill’s social media that gave him a concern about “retaliation” for Jitavius Adams killing Jakevius Parker.

Question V

The trial court erred by failing to define the meaning of “substantial circumstantial evidence.”

Question VI

The trial court erred by not directing a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of the charged offenses.

Question VII

This Court should order a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine?

Question VIII

The trial court erred as a matter of law by enhancing the Chazz Hurley's based on their membership in a gang, when that fact was neither found by the jurors nor proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

STATEMENT OF CASE

For an incident occurring on April 8, 2020, the State of South Carolina charged Narkevious Reid (R. *), Xayvion Hill (R. *) and Chazz Hurley (R. *) with the attempted murder of Gabriel Dion Goode and Justin Deaundrea Parks, criminal conspiracy, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. On September 21, 2021, the State indicted Mr. Reid (R. *), Mr. Hill (R. *), and Mr. Hurley (R. *) for the murder regarding the death of Trivoriaye Alston.

From August 15-24, 2022, the State tried Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. and a jury.¹ David M. Stumbo, Elizabeth P. Taylor, and Madison Hoffman represented the State. R. Jamison Tinsley represented Mr. Hill. Carson M. Henderson represented Mr. Reid. Undersigned counsel represented Mr. Hurley. On August 23, 2022, Judge Addy denied the directed verdict motions of the accused, except for granting the motion as to Mr. Hurley on the charge of possession of a firearm during the commission of violent crime. Tr. 1022. On August 24, 2022, after over seven hours of deliberations, the jurors acquitted Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley of murder but convicted them of attempted murder and criminal conspiracy. Regarding the charge of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, the jurors acquitted Mr. Reid and convicted Mr. Hill. Tr. 1170-72, R. *.

¹ On August 23, 2022, Mr. Reid tested positive for COVID. Tr. 956. Mr. Hurley tested negative for COVID. Tr. 990. The trial proceeded.

Judge Addy sentenced Mr. Reid to concurrent sentences of eighteen years for attempted murder and five years for criminal conspiracy. Tr. 1199, R. *. Judge Addy sentenced Mr. Hill to concurrent sentences of ten years for attempted murder, five years for criminal conspiracy, and five years for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. Tr. 1197-98, R. *. Judge Addy sentenced Mr. Hurley to concurrent sentences of ten years for attempted murder and five years for criminal conspiracy. Tr. 1198, R. *.

On September 6, 2022, Mr. Hill, Mr. Reid, and Mr. Hurly jointly moved for a new trial. R. *. Alternatively, they moved the trial court to reconsider the sentence. *Id.* On September 23, 2022, the State responded to the motions. R. *. On September 28, 2022, the trial court denied the motions. R. *.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The events in this case occurred during the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 396, 993. Governor Henry McMaster declared a state of emergency on March 13, 2020², closed schools on March 15, 2020,³ and closed non-essential businesses on March 31, 2020.⁴ According to 911 records, this incident was first reported at 2:11 p.m. on

² [https://governor.sc.gov/sites/governor/files/Documents/Executive-Orders/2020-03-13%20FILED%20Executive%20Order%20No.%202020-08%20%20State%20of%20Emergency%20Due%20to%20Coronavirus%20\(COVID-19\).pdf](https://governor.sc.gov/sites/governor/files/Documents/Executive-Orders/2020-03-13%20FILED%20Executive%20Order%20No.%202020-08%20%20State%20of%20Emergency%20Due%20to%20Coronavirus%20(COVID-19).pdf) (last viewed Aug. 10, 2023).

³ <https://governor.sc.gov/sites/governor/files/Documents/Executive-Orders/2020-03-15%20FILED%20Executive%20Order%20No.%202020-09%20-%20Closing%20Schools%20Cancelling%20Elections%20Other%20Provisions%20Due%20to%20COVID-19.pdf> (last viewed Aug. 10, 2023).

⁴ <https://governor.sc.gov/sites/governor/files/Documents/Executive-Orders/2020-03-31%20FILED%20Executive%20Order%20No.%202020-17%20-%20Closure%20of%20Non-Essential%20Businesses.pdf> (Last viewed Aug. 10, 2023).

April 8, 2020, and law enforcement arrived on scene seven minutes later. Tr. 317-24; State's Ex. 1.

At the time, Chazz Hurley lived on University Street in Greenwood, South Carolina and took care of his child when the child's mother worked from 3:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. On April 8, 2020, Mr. Hurley woke up around 10:30 a.m. or 11:00 a.m. After receiving a phone call from Mr. Reid between 1:30 p.m. and 2:00 p.m., Mr. Hurley planned to meet Mr. Reid at the Cardinal Glenn Apartments, pick up his son, and drop off Mr. Reid near his home. When he got the Cardinal Glen Apartments, Mr. Hurley took a wrong turn and had difficulty locating Mr. Reid. Mr. Reid called and gave Mr. Hurley directions to his location. Mr. Reid got into the front passenger's seat of Mr. Hurley's care. As they approached the stop sign at the exit of the apartment complex, they heard what they believed to be fireworks. Next, they saw Trivoriaye Alston "hobbling" from the adjacent Gardens at Parkway Apartments towards the main road. Mr. Alston was bloody, "holding his self," obviously injured. That is when Mr. Hurley and Mr. Reid realized they had just heard gunshots. Mr. Reid hopped out of the car, and Mr. Alston fell into Mr. Reid's arms. Mr. Reid "pulled" Mr. Alston into the backseat of the car, and Mr. Hurley sped towards the Self Regional Hospital, which was nearby. Mr. Reid took off his shirt and wrapped it around Mr. Alston's wound. Tr. 961-74, 993-1001.

When they arrived at the hospital, Mr. Hurley "hopped out of the car and went towards" the hospital entrance "to inform somebody we needed help for Mr. Alston." Hospital staff brought a wheelchair, and Mr. Hurley and Mr. Reid helped Mr. Auston into the wheelchair. Hospital staff hurried to assist Mr. Alston and did not ask Mr. Hurley or Mr. Reid any questions. Beyond recognizing the seriousness of the injuries, Mr. Hugely and Mr. Reid could not provide additional information or medical assistance. Tr. 990-93,

State's Ex. 79. Mr. Hurley and Mr. Reid left the hospital. Mr. Hurley still had to babysit his child. On the way to get his child, Mr. Hurley called Mr. Alston's sister and informed her Mr. Alston was at the hospital with a gunshot wound. Tr. 972-74, 1001-03.

Mr. Alston died as the result of gunshot wounds. Mr. Alston had an entrance wound "to the outside of his left arm." "That bullet passed through the soft tissue, and it exited the inside part of his left arm fairly close to the armpit area." He had "an additional gunshot wound to the left side of his chest." That bullet passed through major organs including the left lung, diaphragm, liver, and aorta before coming to a rest in soft tissue of the right side of Mr. Alston's chest. Dr. Kyle Shaw, a forensic pathologist, was not sure whether the gunshot wounds were caused by one or two bullets. Dr. Shaw opined Mr. Alston would have lost consciousness "anywhere from several seconds" to "several minutes." Tr. 835-49.

At trial, the State presented evidence of the alleged crimes. The first 911 call occurred at 2:11 p.m., reflected "a lot of chaos," and memorialized different callers providing different accounts of the events. Law enforcement arrived at the incident location seven minutes after the first 911 call. Tr. 317-24; State's Ex. 1. Although the prosecution presented several witnesses had personal knowledge of the incident, no witness provided a clear picture of what transpired.

Jameel Wilson of the Greenwood Housing Authority was working at the Cardinal Glen Apartments. He saw a black Toyota Camry, with tinted windows, drive through the complex two or three times. He saw silhouettes of three people in the car – the driver and two back seat passengers. The backseat passengers had "twisty" haircuts. He could not tell

the race of the people in the car, let alone identify anyone. Mr. Wilson heard gunshots and called 911. Tr. 331-48, State's Ex. 1.

Stephanie Moss was inside the kitchen of the first-floor Gardens at Parkway apartment, with her fourteen-year-old autistic son, when she saw a black car pull up.⁵ She "didn't really pay attention" to the number of people in the car. One of the passengers "had on a white shirt that had blue anchors on it." The people went towards a path through the trees to the Hillcrest Apartments. When she sat down with her son, she heard gunshots. Because her son is special needs, she "got him up and [they] went into the closet." After a "good five minutes" on the floor, she walked outside and saw a gun laying on the ground near where the black car had parked. Tr. 348-64.

Laurel Bollinger was inside her bedroom in her Hillcrest apartment with her mother and five-year-old son when she "heard what sounded like fireworks." She pulled back the curtain and saw "two people crouched down behind a big tree [or] bush" near building G. One wore a white shirt and the other wore a black shirt. She did not see anyone fire any shots. The men ran past her window. At this point, she saw a black male wearing acid washed blue jeans, "and shaved around the head with little baby dreads on top" (about an inch tall), carrying a silver and black handgun. She "freak[ed] out" and told her mother and son to drop to the floor. Her mother called 911. She was not able to identify anyone on a photo lineup. Tr. 364-78.

William ("Bill") Hawthorne works at the Gardens at Parkway Apartment Complex. While smoking a cigarette, he heard "something that sounded like firecrackers." Thinking

⁵ The Solicitor referred to the black car as a Camry, but Ms. Moss was clear that she did not know the make or model of the car.

it was kids, he drove to “around between building four and five” where he saw somebody waiving and hopping down the sidewalk. The man opened his passenger door, jumped in his car, and “said he had to go to the hospital.” The man had blood on his backside and was “bleeding profusely.” Mr. Hawthorne called 911 and identified the man as a gunshot “victim.” The man identified himself as Xayvion Hill. Mr. Hawthorne ran two redlights on the way to the hospital. Tr. 379-92. Dr. John Konsek, a general surgeon who specializes in trauma to the abdomen, evaluated Mr. Hill for gunshot entrance wound to the left hip and an exit wound to left buttock. The wounds were not life threatening and did not require surgery. Tr. 825-830.

Greenwood County Sheriff’s Deputy Cody Cockrell was the first law enforcement officer to arrive at the incident location, seven minutes after the first 911 call. Almost immediately, he encountered Gabriel Goode with a gunshot wound to his foot. Mr. Goode told Deputy Cockrell that another person was also shot. Inside an upstairs apartment, Deputy Cockrell found Justin Parks on the floor, in a pool of blood, with a multiple gunshot wounds. He provided first aid until EMS arrived. Tr. 317-24, 395-424. State’s Ex. 1.

Gabriel Goode and Justin Parks testified. They were sitting on the porch “smoking a blunt.” Mr. Good saw the flash of a muzzle from a tan gun fired by someone wearing a black ski mask. Mr. Goode was shot once in his left foot.⁶ Mr. Parks received one gunshot wound in his hand and two in his leg.⁷ Mr. Goode called 911. Mr. Parks crawled into the house. Neither Mr. Goode nor Mr. Parks know who shot them. Tr. 425-57.

⁶ Mr. Goode was treated at the hospital and released the same day.

⁷ Dr. Alan Ladd, an emergency room physician, treated Justin Parks for four gunshot wounds. One of the gunshot wounds shattered Mr. Parks right femur, which required surgery. Tr. 857-62.

Although the State was not required to prove motive,⁸ the prosecution’s theory at trial was that Narkevious Reid, Xayvion Hill, Chazz Hurley, and Trivoriaye Alston conspired to murder Gabriel Goode and Justin Parks, as a criminal gang⁹ retaliation, for Jitavius Adams killing Jakevius Parker, several weeks earlier, in a criminal gang related incident. Through the testimony of Mr. Goode and Mr. Parks, the State established their connection to Jitavius Adams. Tr. 439-440, 452-54. Greenwood Police Department Investigator Matthew Blackwell testified about the homicide of Mr. Adams. Tr. 581-83. Investigator Blackwell also checks social media and “determined” Mr. Hill, Mr. Reid, Mr. Hurley, and Trivoriaye Alston are friends with Jakevius Parker. Tr. 583-85. Investigator Blackwell also testified about the connection between Mr. Goode, Mr. Parks, and Mr. Adams. Tr. 583-648, State’s Ex. 109, 110, 114, 115, 116, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124.¹⁰

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” *State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 136, 801 S.E.2d 713, 718 (2017) (internal citations and quotations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

⁸ *State v. Perry*, No. 2021-000947, 2023 WL 4752488, at *4 (S.C. July 26, 2023) (“[M]otive is not an element of a crime that the prosecution must prove to establish the crime charged, but frequently motive is circumstantial evidence ... of the intent to commit the crime when intent or state of mind is in issue.” (quoting *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 124, 606 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2004)).

⁹ See the “Criminal Gang Prevention Act,” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-8-210, *et. seq.*

¹⁰ The trial court admitted these exhibits over objection. Tr. 588-638.

Before a federal constitutional error can be held harmless the reviewing court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 93, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971)). This Court does “not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.” *State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) (citing *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389-90, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012)). In cases like this one, when “credibility” is the “most critical determination” for jurors to make in the case, the error is not harmless. *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011).

ARGUMENTS

Question I

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to require the State to produce a copy of the Greenwood Police Department “Gang Book,” that was disclosed for the first time during pre-trial motions, when the “Gang Book” was material to both guilt-or-innocence and sentencing.

As seen above, the charges in this case arose out of an April 8, 2020 incident. Over two years later, on April 15, 2022, the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, in his capacity as Chief Administrative Judge for General Sessions Court in the Eighth Judicial Circuit, set this case for a date-certain trial on August 15, 2022. Tr. 604; Reid Ex. 4; and New Trial Motion, R. *. Beginning on August 4, 2022—just eleven days prior to trial—and

continuing after the start of the trial, the State began producing evidence supporting the prosecution theory that Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, Mr. Hurley, and Trivoriaye Alston conspired to murder Mr. Goode and Mr. Parks, as a criminal gang retaliation, for Jitavius Adams killing Jakevius Parker, several weeks earlier, in a criminal gang related incident. Tr. 117, 168, 201, 599, 600-05.

Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley moved to exclude any evidence that they, Mr. Alston, Mr. Goode, Mr. Parks, Mr. Adams, and Mr. Parker might have gang affiliations, and the trial court convened a full day in camera hearing on the motion. Tr. 18-231. The State relied on *State v. Johnson*, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d 696 (Ct. App. 2021), affirming the introduction of gang related evidence to prove motive under Rule 404(b), SCRE and *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). *See, e.g.*, Tr. 19-22, 48-49, 169-70, 172, 175, 177, 212-217, 601. The trial court immediately recognized the cautionary statement in *Johnson*: “Evidence of gang affiliation demands careful handling because of its power to distract the fact finder from its rational task of deciding the facts from objective evidence, luring their attention to the lurid, raising the risk that they will decide the case on an improper or subjective (often an unduly emotional) basis.” 433 S.C. at 559, 860 S.E.2d at 701. Tr. 214. Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley pointed out a critical distinction between *Johnson* and the case at bar. In *Johnson*, the prosecution presented direct evidence of the accused’s motive and leadership in the gang from members of the accused’s gang who testified at trial. Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley also pointed the trial court to *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363 (2006), excluding gang expert testimony based on hearsay. *See, e.g.*, tr. 22, 49, 169-72, 214-17.

During the hearing, the State called Investigator Matt Blackwell, who at times has been the Greenwood Police Department's gang officer. At the time of his testimony, Officer Blackwell's login credentials to the SLED gang database (GangNET) had expired. Tr. 156, 188-89. In a "Hooveresque" manner, Investigator Blackwell maintains files on citizens of Greenwood. *See, e.g.*, 45-48, 85, 93, 117, 165, 167, 177, 181, 192-203. Relying on his files, Investigator Blackwell drew connections between Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, Mr. Hurley, Mr. Alston, and Mr. Parker. Investigator Blackwell drew connections between Mr. Goode, Mr. Parks, and Mr. Adams. Investigator Blackwell, however, never drew a connection between the two groups. Tr. 24-197, 583-648. Investigator Blackwell also testified about the SLED gang database. He claimed Mr. Reid was entered into the SLED Gang database but never produced any records from the database. He acknowledged that Mr. Hill, Mr. Hurley, and Mr. Auston had not been entered into the SLED gang database. In fact, Investigator Blackwell did not prepare a "worksheet" for entering Mr. Hill, Mr. Hurley, and Mr. Alston into the SLED gang database until after the Solicitor's Office contacted him during the eleven days prior to trial to obtain information supporting the prosecution's previously undisclosed theory of the case. Tr. 75, 95, 119, 152-65.

During his pre-trial testimony, Investigator Blackwell testified about a Gang Book that he prepares for local law enforcement. Mr. Reid, Mr. Hill, and Mr. Hurley moved for the Court to require the State to produce a copy of the Gang Book. Although Investigator Blackwell did not have a copy of the Gang Book with him at the courthouse, he could have obtained a copy from his office in the Police Department in an adjacent building. The trial court denied the motion to produce the Gang Book. Tr. 30, 45-51, 107; New Trial Motion, R. *.

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