RECEIVED

Jul 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001441

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DASHAWN CHAZZ HURLEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit
600 Monument St.
Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not deny Hurley’s motion for the State to produce a written copy of an internal police department document documenting Greenwood County gang members; the court withheld its ruling and the issue became moot. Regardless, Hurley was not prejudiced because the pertinent sections of the book were disclosed and no gang evidence was introduced at trial.**

Hurley argues the trial court erred by “failing to require the State to produce a copy of the Greenwood Police Department ‘Gang Book’” The “gang book” was an internal document produced by Greenwood police documenting confirmed gang members in Greenwood. Contrary to Hurley’s argument, the State did produce the pertinent sections of the “gang book” for counsel’s inspection. Furthermore, Hurly was not prejudiced because evidence of gang affiliation was not admitted at trial and the written copy of the gang book would not have had any significant effect on Hurley’s defense. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

In criminal cases, the appellate court reviews errors of law only. State v. Vinson, 400 S.C. 347, 351, 734 S.E.2d 182, 184 (Ct. App. 2012).

Discussion.

Hurley mischaracterizes what occurred at the pretrial hearing. The point of the hearing, as the trial court stated several times, was to determine whether Investigator Blackwell would be qualified as an expert in gang investigations and whether the State would be allowed to introduce evidence that Hurley, Hill, and Reid were members of a gang. (R.105–110, 119, 126–127, 205–6). After a lengthy hearing, the court excluded evidence that Hurley, Hill, and Reid were in a gang. (R.302–305). Numerous exhibits were marked during the hearing, including photographs from social media and various lists Investigator Blackwell compiled documenting the co-defendants as gang members. Court’s Exhibits # 1–15. Regarding the “gang book,” Blackwell testified as follows: “The Greenwood Police Department gang book is a book that I put together

to give to law enforcement letting them have knowledge of the members we have here in Greenwood. Details, like, the criteria needed to place somebody in Gang Net. Gang Net is the database where we put gang members and, so it's just kind of a . . . officers around the state can have an idea of who's in gangs and who they are affiliated with. I did that in 2020.” (R.117). The solicitor's office produced digital copies of the portions of the “gang book” pertaining to the co-defendants the week before trial. (R.132–33). Defense counsel for Hurley insisted he wanted the “paper” copy of the gang book “since that's something that they are relying on as to his qualifications.” (R.132–33). Defense counsel explained he wanted to see “how they identified Dashawn Hurley as a member of a gang.” (R.135, lines 8–9). The trial court responded that it seems the issue was “part and parcel with the question of factually how does he go about including somebody in that list or concluding that someone is affiliated with one of these three gangs” (R.135–136).

The court did not deny Hurley's motion to require the State to produce a paper copy of the book. The court suggested he “put a pin in the question of qualification as an expert and allow the State to go ahead and proffer testimony concerning how these defendants were included, or how someone came to conclude that they were involved in a gang. . . . And perhaps the gang book may become relevant at some future point in time, but let's go ahead and develop his testimony a little bit more before I decide whether or not.” (R.136). In response to the court's explanation that he wanted to hear the rest of the testimony, defense counsel stated: “I understand that, and I would just ask that the government have that available for your review should you deem to be necessary without us having to engage in any delay.” (R.138).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court excluded evidence that Hurley was in a gang. Defense counsel did not renew his request that the State produce the “paper” copy of the

book. Accordingly, there is no adverse ruling for this Court to review. See State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 213 (Ct. App. 2002) (“An issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court in order to be considered on appeal.”). Hurley acquiesced in the court’s decision to hear the remainder of the testimony before requiring the State to produce the paper copy of the book, and did not renew his request after the court announced its ruling excluding gang evidence. State v. Wright, 416 S.C. 353, 371, 785 S.E.2d 479, 488 (Ct. App. 2016) (“A party may not acquiesce in a ruling and then complain on appeal.”). This issue is not preserved for review.

Regardless, Hurley was not prejudiced. The portions of the book pertinent to Hurley and his co-defendants were handed over to the defense. Hurley fails to explain how the remainder of the book had any relevance to his trial where no gang evidence was admitted. “The Brady disclosure rule is grounded in the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial mandated by the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. It requires the prosecution to disclose evidence that is: 1.) in its possession; 2.) favorable to the accused; and 3.) material to guilt or punishment.” State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 452, 503 S.E.2d 214, 219–20 (Ct. App. 1998). “[E]vidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A ‘reasonable probability’ is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. There is not a reasonable probability the remainder of the gang book would have “put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict.” Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 469–70 (2009); State v. Proctor, 358 S.C. 424, 431, 595 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2004) (holding “to the extent that respondent sought the proficiency test results in order to calculate the ‘lab error rate’ and then use that rate to discount the probability match, he cannot demonstrate

prejudice from the denial of that information since no ‘match’ evidence was presented to the jury.”).

Hurley claims the trial court relied on the undisclosed portion of the gang book at sentencing. This assertion is not supported by the record. The trial court never saw the “paper” copy of the gang book, and thus could not have relied on it. The only evidence the court heard regarding gang involvement came at the pretrial hearing where the paper copy of the gang book was not entered. The court acted within its discretion by taking the evidence presented at the pretrial hearing into consideration at sentencing. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court refused to suppress evidence discovered within two weeks of trial and immediately disclosed to the defense, and Hurley was not prejudiced because the evidence was found on the defendants’ own social media pages.

Hurley argues the trial court erred by failing to exclude evidence disclosed eleven days prior to trial. Hurley does not specifically identify any evidence in his brief in support of this argument, so this issue is not preserved for review. Even if preserved, the trial court correctly admitted all evidence disclosed to the defense before trial because the defense had a fair opportunity to review the evidence and was not taken by surprise. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is also subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014).

Discussion.

Hurley’s brief contains no citations to the record and does not identify any specific piece of evidence he alleges the trial court erroneously admitted. The State and this Court should not have to guess where within this 1200-page transcript Hurley made this motion, and which of the 140+ exhibits he alleges should have been excluded. The issue is not preserved for review. See Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR (“The brief shall contain references to the transcript, pleadings, orders,

exhibits, or other materials which may be properly included in the Record on Appeal . . . to support the salient facts alleged. References shall also be made to where relevant objections and rulings occurred in the transcript.”); Henning v. Kaye, 307 S.C. 436, 437, 415 S.E.2d 794, 794 (1992) (“Counsel is advised that the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules are not mere technicalities but provide the parties and this Court with an orderly mechanism through which to guide appeals in this State.”).

Even if this Court excuses Hurley’s failure to provide any record cites to support his assertions, his argument is meritless. The evidence regarding the co-defendants’ prior relationships and potential motive was disclosed in plenty of time for the defense to prepare for its use at trial. Evidence is not considered “material” if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial. State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 517, 702 S.E.2d 395, 403 (Ct. App. 2010). Furthermore, all of the social media evidence (assuming this is the basis for Hurley’s argument) was taken from the defendants’ own social media pages. There was no surprise.

To the extent Hurley claims he was prejudiced by late disclosure of the “gang book,” this argument fails for the same reasons discussed above. The gang book was not introduced as evidence, as the trial court excluded all reference to gangs. Furthermore, law enforcement suspicion of gang activity was no surprise. The State stated at a bond hearing that they believed the shooting was gang related. (R.646). It was also in the incident report. (R.647). Hurley has failed to show prejudice from the alleged tardy disclosure of motive evidence. This Court should affirm.

III. The trial court correctly admitted relevant gunshot residue evidence.

Hurley claims the trial court erred by admitting gunshot residue evidence (GSR). He has not shown an abuse of discretion. The evidence was plainly relevant and reliable. It was for the

jury, not the trial court, to determine the weight to be given to the evidence. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is also subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014).

Discussion.

The State admitted evidence that gunshot residue was recovered from the hands of Hill and Alston, but not from the victims. This evidence tended to show Hill and Alston fired guns, but the victims did not. In refusing to exclude the evidence, the trial court correctly held this evidence was relevant and the issue was “ripe for cross-examination.” (R.810).

The GSR evidence was reliable. GSR evidence is straightforward and commonplace and, as the trial court noted, there can be no serious contention that it’s not based on reliable science. (R.810, 815). Hurley argued that even if GSR is reliable generally, the testimony in this case was not reliable and not helpful to the jury because it did not prove Hill or Alston fired a gun.

The expert candidly admitted she could not opine whether Hill or Alston actually fired a gun. (R.808). Even though GSR could not prove Hill and Alston fired guns, it was consistent with them having done so. Furthermore, the presence of GSR on Alston and Hill’s hands refutes any inference that they were shot by Parks or Goode—rather than themselves—because the gunfire happened at a distance. (R.807). Finally, Parks and Goode did not have GSR on their hands. While GSR is easily removable, it is less likely Parks and Goode had the wherewithal to wash it off themselves when they had both just been shot. Goode had a shattered femur and was not mobile. (R.499). Thus the GSR evidence was relevant and helpful to the jury’s

understanding of the case. See Rule 402, SCRE (explaining evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency” to prove a fact in controversy).

Regardless, Hurley was not prejudiced. First of all, GSR evidence was not offered against Hurley. Because he fled the scene, police were not able to collect a sample from him. Second, the expert clearly explained the limitations of the GSR evidence. (R.817–18). All three defense attorneys thoroughly cross-examined the expert. The jury was well aware the GSR evidence did not definitively prove Alston and Hill fired guns, even though this fact was obvious from the testimony as a whole. The GSR evidence did not have an outcome on the case. This Court should affirm.

IV. The trial court correctly refused to declare a mistrial based on a question to which the court sustained an objection and which was not prejudicial to Hurley.

Hurley claims the trial court erred by refusing to grant a mistrial based on a question asked by the solicitor, whether the investigator was concerned about “retaliation” after Hurley’s co-defendant Hill made a threatening Facebook post. Hurley fails to show prejudice. Even though the question was arguably within the bounds of the trial court’s preliminary ruling, the trial court sustained an objection to the question and instructed the jury to disregard it. Thus the jury heard no improper testimony. This Court should affirm.

Standard of review.

A trial court's denial of a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 417, 692 S.E.2d 201, 203 (Ct. App. 2010).

Discussion.

“The granting of a motion for mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way. A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary and a defendant must show both error and

resulting prejudice to be entitled to a mistrial. A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons. Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge. The trial court should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial.” Bantan, 387 S.C. at 417, 692 S.E.2d at 203–04 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

After successfully moving to exclude all reference to “gangs,” the defendants attempted to expand on this favorable ruling by moving to exclude any law enforcement reference to retaliation, even though this was the State’s theory of motive. The State laid the foundation for its theory of the case by admitting Facebook photos showing the defendants socializing with Jakevius Parker and testimony from Parks and Goode showing they were friends with Ji’Tavius Adams. The State argued Adams’ murder of Parker was the defendants’ motive for trying to kill the victims.

The photos were admitted through Investigator Blackwell. He identified several photographs and explained he used Facebook to investigate crimes. (R.632). When the solicitor moved to introduce the Facebook photos, counsel for Reid objected. (R.634). The solicitor explained he was introducing the photos to show the connection between the various individuals, but that “there’s other pictures that we’re not putting in that involve these guys where they’re flashing guns or smoking weed. We’re not putting those in, Judge, for obvious reasons. So, this shows the associations without the other highly inflammatory stuff.” (R.641–42). The State also did not seek to introduce a picture of Reid by himself wearing a “Contraband Gang” sweatshirt. (R.642–43).

Reid argued any comment by the investigator about the meaning of State’s Exhibit #117, the post where Hill made seemingly threatening comments regarding Parker’s murder, would be improper because “he’s not an expert in linguistics.” (R.668). The trial court stated that while he excluded evidence the defendants were in a gang, he “made clear that the State would be allowed to introduce evidence of the affiliation of Alston with the three defendants and Mr. Parker, as well as Parks and Goode being associated, were friends with Adams.” (R.637).

Hurley argued the State was “intending to present . . . improper opinion testimony. It would be improper bolstering of their own case.” (R.677). In particular, Hurley moved to exclude reference to a “BOLO” (“be on the lookout”) police issued after Hill’s threatening Facebook post. The trial court ruled the officer could not testify he put out a BOLO based on the post because the officer’s belief as to the post’s intent was not probative of the underlying fact. (R.683). It is clear from the trial court’s ruling that the exclusion of the officer’s “interpretation” of the Facebook post was premised on Hurley’s trial objection that such testimony would be improper opinion evidence.

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